UNITED
NATIONS C R C

Convention on the LA

Rights of the Child CRC/ O/ SR. 354

17 January 1997

Oiginal: ENG.ISH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Fourteent h session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 354t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Monday, 13 January 1997, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson: Ms. BELEMBAOCGO
CONTENTS

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of Panama (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the neetings of the Conmittee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued shortly
after the end of the session

GE. 97- 15071 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.15 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 4) (continued)

Initial report of Panama (continued) (HRI/CORE 1/ Add. 14/ Rev. 1
CRC/ C/ 8/ Add. 28; CRC/C/ QY PAN. 1 (list of issues); witten replies by the
Government of Panama with no docunent synbol, in Spanish)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the Panamani an del egati on resuned
its place at the Conmittee table.

2. Ms. SARDENBERG said that there were four points on which she would Iike
some further clarification: whether the Fanmily Code (para. 57) was stil

under discussion in parlianment or was already in force; whether the new

| egi sl ation provided for a single specific body responsible for children's
affairs; whether there were discrepancies between the official data and sone
informal data that indicated a nore serious situation and, if so, whether
there was a reliable statistical basis for the fornulation of policies for
children; and, lastly, whether the witten replies had been fornmulated by a
government agency or there had been an input from non-government al

organi zati ons (NGOs) and ot her bodi es.

3. M. HAMVARBERG sai d that, although the figure of 44 per cent of the
current budget for child-related expenditures seened high at first sight, it
was not excessive when children nade up 50 per cent of the total population
Mor eover, as M's. Badran had pointed out, a percentage increase in a period of
budgetary constraint might conceal a reduction in real terns.

4, Each country nust decide for itself on the institution of an ombudsnman
for children. VWil e there were undoubted benefits in such an arrangement,
there was also a risk that a separate focus on children would nean that they
received a |lower priority. Children's problens nust be addressed in the
context of the fam |y and society, although special steps were needed to
conpensate for their specific vulnerability. Perhaps the best approach was to
| ook at the basic needs. For exanmple, he would Iike to know whether children
in Panama could file conplaints and expect sone response and whether there was
any independent institution having an overview of the position of children in
soci ety and their support needs.

5. He wondered whet her the nenbers of the del egation, who were obviously
key figures with respect to the inplenmentation of the Convention in Panama
had studied the periodic reports of other countries and the Committee's

di scussion of them there was nuch to be | earned fromsuch an exercise. 1In
that connecton, it would be interesting to hear fromthe menbers of the

del egation what their three najor priorities would be for the inplenentation
of the Convention

6. Ms. AROSEMENA DE TRO TI KO (Panama) said that, before deciding whether
to establish a separate onbudsman for children, Panama w shed to assess the
effectiveness of the office of general onmbudsman, which had been established
in legislation but not yet in practice, as a nmeans of protecting the human
rights of the population as a whole. It was envisaged that the ombudsman
woul d have the power to deal with children's affairs, and a specific provision




CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 3

gave children access to his office. The first person appointed to the office
woul d have to deci de whether there should be any specific arrangenent for
dealing with children's conplaints. The intention was to present to himthe
specific requirenents of the protection of children's rights.

7. The Panamani an authorities had exchanged views on the topic with the
authorities of El Sal vador and Cuatenmla and had al so met the Swedi sh
Onbudsman. M. Hamrarberg's comments were thus particularly wel come, because
Panama was in the process of determ ning what arrangenents woul d best
guarantee children's rights.

8. The Fam |y Code had been drafted in 1982-1985, but had not been approved
by Parlianent for another 11 years. The need for a |legal instrument on
children's affairs had beconme urgent in 1992 when Panama had acceded to the
Convention on the Rights of the Child. The draft |egislation previously
produced did not, of course, take account of the provisions of the Convention
Consequently, although it incorporated the basic principles of the Convention
the Fam |y Code did not satisfy the requirenent of establishing an

i npl ement ati on machi nery, though it did have a section on the participation of
the State in the el aboration of policies for the famly, providing that the
best interests of the child should prevail in any conflict with its parents.

9. The Fam |y Code al so envi saged maj or changes in the structure of the
juvenile justice system introducing guarantees of due procedure and the right
of appeal, as well as providing for specialized juvenile judges. One problem
of the juvenile justice systemwas that it currently dealt both with children
who were denied their rights and with children in conflict with the | aw.

Mor eover, the legislation even | acked a specific definition of the m ni num age
of crimnal liability.

10. Before the adoption of the Fam |y Code, there had been no specific

| egislation on children's rights in Panama, and it was to be hoped that the
enabling legislation to put the Code into effect would be adopted in the near
future.

11. In response to M. Hammarberg's request for her to name three priority
probl ems requiring i mediate attention, she would first cite the | ack of

awar eness on the part of civil society of the comm tment represented by
Panama' s accession to the Convention. A great effort would be needed to
change cultural attitudes which relegated children to a lowy position, for
whi ch personnel trained in the requirements of the Convention would be needed.

12. The second probl em was the general economc situation and the fact that
t he budget made no specific provision for the requirements of children. The
United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) had identified the need for a

nmet hodol ogy to enabl e the planning services to focus social spending on
children. Sone progress had been nade in that area: for exanple, the
juvenile justice system had received increased funds for the current year

whi ch woul d be channel |l ed towards the nmost vul nerabl e groups.

13. Thirdly, there was a need to increase the effective participation of
children in social life. No such right had ever been recognized in Panama
before and its exercise would be no easy matter. However, the “mni-sumits”



CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 4

on children's affairs held in several parts of the country had produced sone
recommendati ons that were being taken into account. In the education system
for example, curricula were being revised with a view to increasing the
participation of children and ensuring that their views were heeded.

14. Ms. GRAHAM DE SAMPSON (Panama) said that the enactnent of |egislation
on children was still at an initial stage: a working group was studying the
nati onal situation. The Panamani an authorities were convinced that

| egi sl ati on could not just be copied fromother countries but had to be
tailored to the national situation and neet the national needs. UN CEF was
suppl yi ng techni cal support for the study.

15. There was, in fact, no specific institution in Panama for the
formul ati on of social policy. Policies were devised separately by each
mnistry and were then coordinated in the Social Cabinet, which was al so
responsi ble for nonitoring their inplenentation. The National Council on the
Fam |y and Children, an independent body consisting of representatives of the
Governnment and of civil society, also performed an advi sory and coordi nation
function with respect to social policies.

16. Wth respect to the question about discrepancies in the statistica

data, she was able to confirmthat the data presented in the report were

provi ded by the Central Governnent Information Ofice, but sone of them m ght
have originally emanated from private bodies, as was the case in nmany
countries. For the fornulation of decisions and policies, only data provided
by the Ofice of Statistics and Censuses was used. As her del egation had
stated at the previous nmeeting, Panama had no institution specifically
responsi ble for the statistical study of children's problenms. The authorities
were anxious to establish such an institution, precisely in order to have
accurate data to help resolve children's probl ens.

17. As for the preparation of the witten replies, the list of issues had
unfortunately not been received until 18 Decenber 1996, so that it had been
very difficult to obtain full answers to all the questions in tine. Al

rel evant governnental and non-governnental bodies had, however, been requested
to provide information for use as the basis for the replies. If nore tine had
been avail able, the replies could have provided a fuller picture of the
situation.

18. The figure of 44 per cent of the 1997 budget represented total socia
expenditure. An attenpt had been nade to persuade the Mnistry of Planning
and Economic Policy to provide a breakdown of the figure by recipient

popul ation, but to no avail. She hoped that, in the next periodic report, it
woul d be possible to give specific figures of the budgetary allocations for
children's needs.

19. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited the del egati on of Panama to sunmarize briefly
the information contained in the witten replies relating to the sections in
the list of issues (CRC/C/ Q PAN. 1) entitled “Definition of the child” and
“General principles” respectively.

20. Ms. AROSEMENA DE TRO TI KO (Panama) said that article 34 of the Civi
Code defined the various stages of physical and psychol ogi cal devel opnment in




CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 5

children in order to determ ne the |legal age for certain capacities.
According to the Fanmi |y Code, however, a child was any person from conception
until the age of 18. That represented a significant advance on previ ous

| egislation and was fully in line with the provisions of the Convention.

21. The Fam |y Code did not permt the marriage of persons under 18 years of
age without parental consent. A marriage could take place between a girl

aged 14 or over and a boy aged 16 or nore, with parental authorization, but
was subject to certain restrictions with regard to nmonetary conm tnents. |If
the union remained intact, the restrictions were lifted upon attai nment of the
age of mpjority. Such marriages resulted in |egal emancipation which was,
however, subject to the limtations governing the protection of mnors laid
down in the Fam |y Code.

22. Chi |l dren aged 14 and above were allowed to work, provided that their
right to education was protected through inter alia shorter working hours.

The Adm nistrative Code referred to seven years as the age of absol ute
crimnal liability but that provision was no |onger applicable in the |ight of
the Fam |y Code, although the Code contained no specific provision on the
matter.

23. Children aged between 14 and 18 who were the victinms of rape or
seduction could not be regarded as having given their consent, in accordance
with the legislation in force. Sexual relations with mnors under the age
of 14 were always treated as rape, even in the absence of viol ence.

24. In cases of adoption, there was specific |egislation providing that the
views of children aged seven years or over nust be heard.

25. In judicial proceedings, children aged between 7 and 14 coul d not make a
deposition or act as witnesses w thout the presence of a guardian. Although
children over the age of 14 could act on their own behalf, their questioning
must be strictly supervised by a judge.

26. There was no specific |egal provision enabling children to seek redress
in a court of law. None the |ess, since persons over the age of 14 were
entitled to work and coul d seek conpensation for grievances suffered in | abour
tribunals, it should, by anal ogy, be possible for themto seek redress in

ot her situations.

27. Access to nedical treatnent w thout parental consent was not
specifically provided for under Panamani an | egislation. According to the
Fam |y Code, any adninistrative, medical or educational authority that had
cogni zance of or suspected the abuse or naltreatnment of a child could request
medi cal exam nation or treatnent against the parents' will, if the health of
the child was deened to be in jeopardy.

28. As for the issues arising under Ceneral principles, there were various
pi eces of l|egislation including the Fanily Code, the Labour Code, the
Educati on Organi zati on Act and the Donestic Violence Act which covered
different situations with the aimof preventing all fornms of discrimnation



CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 6

29. O the neasures adopted to ensure respect for the rights enshrined in
the Convention, she wi shed to highlight the steps being taken to enforce the
provi sions of the Labour Code. The Mnistry of Labour, in cooperation with
the International Progranme for the Elimnation of Child Labour (1PEC), was
noni toring the situation of working children in rural areas to ensure that

t he Labour Code was respected. Child labour in the free-trade zones was
illegal. The Panamani an Special Training Institute provided care for the

di sabl ed which was ainmed at ensuring their integration into the community and
the [ abour market. There were also special health programres to inprove the
general health of children, especially those under the age of five, living in
rural areas.

30. Children in conflict with the | aw were guaranteed due process and ot her
rel evant safeguards by the Fam |y Code. However, greater provision needed to
be made for legal aid for children whose problens had to be settled in a court
of law. There was general recognition of the increasingly inmportant role

pl ayed by NGOs in defending children's rights and many such organi zati ons were
actively involved in initiatives |aunched by the National Council on the

Fam |y and Children. Apart from nmedical and social workers, child-care
centres also had fam |y counsellors, who helped to resolve children's problens
by acting as nediators. Mre famly counsellors were needed to nmeet the
rising demand for support resulting, inter alia, fromthe hei ghtened
expectations of society owing to the entry into force of the Fam |y Code.

31. There was specific legislation to protect the disabl ed agai nst

di scrimnation. The Panamani an National Training Institute had been
established in 1951 and the rel evant |egislation had recently been anmended to
encourage the participation of the disabled in the | abour force through tax
concessions for enployers. The Fam |y Code recogni zed the equal rights of the
di sabl ed and called for the provision of special health, recreation and
training facilities. Under article 520 of the Code any person who viol ated
those rights was liable to penal sanctions. Follow ng an anendnent to the
Educati on Organi zati on Act, disabled children would soon be able to attend
normal preschool establishnments.

32. Under the Constitution and |egislation dating from 1946, no

di scrimnation was perm tted against children born out of wedl ock. Al
children were equal before the law, including for the purposes of affiliation
and adopti on.

33. The |l egislation regulating adoption referred to in the initial report
(CRC/ ¢/ 8/ Add. 28) had been superseded by provisions of the Fam |y Code, which
| ai d down the safeguards, procedures and formalities required for |ega
adoption. Adoption was a binding conm tnent and coul d be declared null and
void if the procedures had not been fully conplied with. Adoptive parents
were vested with the sane rights, duties and parental authority as biol ogica
parents. The existence of appropriate follow up procedures ensured that the
best interests of the adopted child were taken into account.

34. A nunber of steps had been taken to protect the indigenous popul ation
agai nst discrimnation. |In the health sector, projects funded by the

Worl d Bank were under way to inprove levels of nutrition, imunization and
sanitation in the rural areas. Priority was also being given to providing



CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 7

adequate health care for the high-risk groups in the population. The
necessary resources had been set aside for such projects in the nationa
budget. In the education sector, efforts were being made by the Governnent,
in cooperation with the World Bank, to prepare an al phabet for the | anguages
of the indigenous people.

35. A soci al energency fund, had been set up in 1992 to provide safe
drinking water and primary health care for the popul ati on groups nost in need
i ncluding the, mainly indigenous, rural population. There was a further
project to target four of the poorest districts in the country. Details of
such initiatives had not, unfortunately, been included in the initial report
(CRC/ ¢/ 8/ Add. 28), which thus did not accurately reflect devel opnents in Panama
bet ween 1992 and 1995.

36. The CHAI RPERSON said that, although the Cormittee was nost grateful for
the detailed information being provided, it was subject to tinme constraints
and its nmenbers needed the opportunity to nake comrents and ask questions.
She hoped that five nore minutes would be sufficient to allow the del egation
to conplete its summary of the witten replies concerning general principles.

37. Ms. AROSEMENA DE TRO TINO (Pananm) said she would linit herself to a
few exanpl es of the manner in which the best interests of the child were
currently taken into account in Panana. Where there was a |egal conflict
between the parents and the child, the judge was obliged according to the
Fam |y Code to take the best interests of the child into consideration when
giving his verdict. 1In the event of a divorce or de facto separation
arrangenents for the mai ntenance and custody of the child nmust be settled in
his or her favour. Under a special provision of the Constitution, where a
marri age was di ssolved, the property and assets involved nust remain with the
parent responsible for supporting the child. In the case of adoption, the
obligation to change a child's nane could be waived where it was deened to be
in his best interest. Mreover, children over the age of seven were

consi dered capable of formng their own judgenment and their views nust be
heard in matters of adoption

38. There were plans afoot for children's “mni-sunmts” during which
children woul d have an opportunity to voice their opinions and make statenents
whi ch nust be taken into consideration by governnent institutions in the
definition of the policies affecting them

39. Ms. SANTOS PAIS said she was concerned that, in spite of recent
amendments to legislation, there was still a distinction between the age at
which girls and boys could enter into marriage. She wondered what
justification there was for that distinction, which ran counter to the

provi sions of the Convention and to the Constitution of Panama, according to
whi ch there should be no discrinmination on the grounds of sex. Furthernore,
such |l egislation nerely perpetuated the problem of the preval ence of early
pregnanci es highlighted in the report. The only solution would seemto be an
anmendnent to the relevant |egislation, which she woul d wel cone.

40. She woul d Iike sone clarification regarding the provisions of the Labour
Code on the enpl oynent of children. While 14 seened to be the normal m ni mum
age at which children could engage in work, she was concerned about the



CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 8

exceptions permitted, for children to performagricultural work or domestic
service, apparently on condition that their school attendance was guarant eed.
It was not at all clear to her how working hours and school attendance coul d
be reconcil ed.

41. In view of the fact that there was no mnimum age for crimna

liability, she would lIike to know how the authorities reacted to children who
commtted acts contravening the crimnal law. She noted that, in cases of
corruption and indecent acts, the Crimnal Code regarded children as victins
up to the age of 18 whereas, in cases of rape and seduction, the age was 14.
Wth a viewto the protection of children in the spirit of the Convention, the
| atter age should surely be 18 al so.

42. Lastly, she would |ike to know how Panama's | egislative framework
actually reflected the general principles set forth in the Convention and
whet her it woul d be necessary to apply the Convention directly in order to
fill any |egal gaps.

43. M. MOMBESHORA said that, while the definition of the child set forth in
the Fam |y Code was in accordance with the Convention, the definition
contained in article 34 (a) of the Civil Code (para. 64 of the initial report)
seemed to inply that persons over seven years of age were no |onger children
Mor eover, the different ages at which boys and girls were defined as

pre-adol escents in the sane article appeared to be discrimnatory. The
article should be redrafted, by analogy with article 125 of the Constitution
to read: “All Panamani ans under 18 years of age, without distinction as to
sex, shall be considered children.”

44. To protect children fromthe attentions of unscrupul ous nedica
practitioners, the Panamani an authorities should consider introducing a
m ni mum age bel ow which children were not pernmitted to consult a doctor
wi t hout parental consent.

45. He would |i ke to know what penalty was prescribed for persons having
sexual relations with a girl under 12 years of age and whether there was any
| egal provision to cover sexual offences involving young boys.

46. Were there any special progranmes to nake indi genous children and
children in rural areas aware of their rights, and did such persons have neans
of complaining to the authorities if they believed thenselves to be victins of
di scrimnation?

47. M . HAMVARBERG said he presuned that the exception whereby girls under
the age of 14 and boys under the age of 16 could marry with parental consent
was ai ned at cases where the girl had becone pregnant. Nevertheless, the
provision m ght well send children the m sleading signal that sexua

rel ati ons, pregnancy and early marri age were socially acceptable. It also
rai sed the question of the age disparity between boys and girls in that
regard, and of the danger of young girls being pressurized into marri age.

48. Noting that the recent trend was to integrate disabled children into
school s and the conmunity rather than to relegate themto institutions, he
asked if there were any neasures in Panama to pronote such integration



CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 9

49. Wi | e neasures were needed to assist ethnic mnorities, there was al ways
the danger that such affirmative action m ght be perceived, and resented, by
the majority as “positive discrimnation”. Wat steps were being taken to

di spel any such perception? What was being done to ensure that participation
by children, and particularly by children belonging to mnority groups, was
nore than a nmere token gesture in the school systenf

50. M s. SARDENBERG said that the docunentation reveal ed striking

di sparities between different regions of the country and between different
popul ati on groups. She would thus like to hear the del egation's assessnent of
the actual, rather than theoretical, situation with regard to discrimnation

i n Panamani an soci ety and whet her discrimnation was a clear-cut issue or
assumed covert fornms. The Convention could be a potent political tool to
assist in bringing about changes, not just in legislation, but also in
attitudes.

51. Ms. BADRAN asked whet her anything was being done to elimnate

di scrimnation against the girl child in the context of the Platformfor
Action of the Fourth Wbrld Conference on Wnmen and whet her the Wirl d Bank
proj ect which the del egation had nmenti oned provi ded preschool education for
chil dren bel ongi ng to di sadvant aged groups.

52. M ss MASON asked how, in practical terns, the systemof “mni-sumits”
in rural areas was to be inplenented. |In connection with the disparity

bet ween the m ni rum ages at which boys and girls could be married, she would
like to know whether the Fam |y Code recognized traditional cultural marriage
rites as equivalent to civil rites. |If emancipation did not inmply a | ack of
protection for the minor, how was that protection ensured? Lastly, what was
considered to be a sufficient age to allow children to formtheir own
judgenent in matters other than adoption; and by whom and with reference to
what criteria, was that age deterni ned?

53. Ms. KARP said she would wel cone fuller information on programmes and
policies reflecting the Governnent's acknow edgenment of the existence of
de facto discrimnation in Panamani an society. |In that regard, she suggested

that the fuller data promi sed for future reports should be di saggregated by
sector and by geographical area so as to reveal whether disadvantaged groups
were being effectively targeted.

54. She was | ess concerned about the discrepancies between the m ni num
permtted marri age ages for boys and for girls than about the harnfu
consequences of early marriage as such. Early marriage should be authorized,
if at all, not by the parents but by a court or sone other authority.

55. She al so wi shed to know whet her any services existed to provide
counselling to adol escents who did not wish to seek parental guidance on

i ssues such as sex and drugs. Was sex education compul sory and, if not, was
it to be included in the new curriculunf? Lastly, was there any mechanismto
ensure that the enployers of children aged between 12 and 14 conplied with the
requi renent that such children nmust also attend school ?

56. M. KOOSOV said that children's survival and devel opnent coul d not be
secured in the absence of adequate housing. That, of course, posed a



CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 10

budgetary problem Since, however, Panama had no arned forces and derived
income fromthe exploitation of the Panana Canal, the budgetary resources
shoul d be available. He wished to know, therefore, what proportion of the
nati onal budget was earmarked for inproving housing conditions?

57. Ms. GRAHAM DE SAMPSON (Panama) said that she had noted the Cormittee's
concern about the m ninmum age for narriage. The basic principle applied was
that children under the age of 18 were not permtted to marry. However, the

| egi sl ators had had to recogni ze the unfortunate fact that many children, in
rural areas in particular, term nated their education on conpletion of primry
school, at which point they were then regarded as marri ageable. The disparity
bet ween the m ni rum ages at which boys and girls were permitted to marry
merely acknow edged the biological fact that girls generally reached puberty
at an earlier age than boys. Authorization for early marriage was granted
either by the parents or by the guardian or person vested with parenta
authority.

58. On the mininmum age for enploynent, a discrepancy existed, not between
the provisions of the Constitution and those of the Labour Code, but between
nati onal |egislation and the provisions of the International Labour

Organi zation's M ni mum Age Convention, 1973 (No. 138), which stipulated a

m ni mrum age of 15. The reason why Panama had not ratified that Convention was
preci sely because its provisions conflicted with donmestic |egislation

Consi derati on was, however, being given to bringing that |egislation into Iine
with the ILO standards.

59. In addition to the neasures al ready enunerated, the Mnistry of Labour
and Social Welfare had established inspection units to ensure conpliance with
the restrictions on enploynent of children inposed by the Labour Code, which
provi ded, inter alia, for a six-hour working day and attendance at school by
wor ki ng children, and which prohibited the enpl oynment of children in unhealthy
or dangerous activities.

60. The “mni-summts” programe woul d be continued on a nati onwi de basi s,
as it had proved extrenely effective in raising awareness of the rights and
obligations set forth in the Convention and ensuring that children were active
participants in, rather than passive observers of, the process.

61. A National Wbnen's Council had been established, within the Mnistry of
Labour and Social Welfare, to follow up the commtnents entered into by Panama
at the Fourth World Conference on Wonen. It drew its nmenbership froma broad
cross-section of society and had | aunched a canpaign to spread awareness of
its ainms nationwide. The Mnistry of Education was currently revising schoo
textbooks with a view to purging them of sexist |anguage.

62. Sexual education was currently dealt with under various subjects of the
curriculum such as science and civic and religious education. She believed
that it would be included as a separate subject in the new curriculum She
did not think that the Fam |y Code actively encouraged early nmarriage. The
purpose of the relevant provisions of the Code was to ensure that adol escents
finding thenmselves in a situation of early nmarriage were not deprived of
educati onal opportunities.



CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 11

63. Mortality-rate indicators and percentages with a breakdown according to
age group, together with other information would be sent to the Comrittee to
denonstrate how the situation had inproved in Panama in that respect.

64. The disparity between rural and urban areas had decreased in recent
years, in ternms of housing for exanple. The problem of the integration of

i ndi genous groups had al so been eased significantly by involving themin
various programes and policies dealing specifically with their problens.
They had a voice in parlianment and representatives who ensured that the | aws
relating to indi genous popul ati ons were inpl ement ed.

65. The incone fromthe Panama Canal was divided anong the various
governnental programmes but, in recent years, particular attention had been
paid to i nproving the housing stock and overconing the housing shortage. More
i nformati on on that subject would be provided at a | ater date.

66. Ms. AROSEMENA DE TRO TINO (Panama) said, with regard to the age of

consent, the mninmm age for marriage and the need for due and harnonized

| egal protection of children under the age of 18, that the concerns of the
Committee had been noted and woul d be passed on

67. As for the protection of children’'s rights after the age of

emanci pation - in the case of early pregnancies for instance, the origina
text of the Fam |y Code had been anmended to provide for the continuing rights
of the young nother. She would not be regarded as emanci pated sinply because
she had had a child.

68. The right of a child to express his or her opinions was not explicitly

provided for in legislation to date. |In practice, judges, particularly those
dealing with mnors, listened to the children's views in situations affecting
t hem

69. Again, there was no specific provision stipulating the age at which a
child could seek a nmedi cal exanination wi thout the consent of the parent or
guardi an, but there was nothing to prevent a child from seeking nedi cal advice
in practice. Children could conplain to the authorities of abuse. It was
then up to those authorities to begin proceedi ngs.

70. On the question of statistics, there were various studies which gave a
clear idea of the disparity between urban and rural areas and hel ped the
Governnment to identify the poorest areas and nost vul nerabl e groups for the
purpose of targeting its action plans and budgetary all ocati ons.

71. Ms. KARP asked whet her young girls could seek an abortion and if so,
whet her they needed their parents’ consent. She al so asked whether police
units that dealt with children’s conplaints existed outside the capital

72. Ms. EUFEM O asked at what age a child could join the police force;
consume al cohol ; be given access to information on his or her biologica
famly in cases of adoption; and change his or her fam |y name and identity.
She al so i nquired whether Panana was planning to re-establish armed forces.




CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 12

73. M. HAMVARBERG asked how article 3 of the Convention on the best
interests of the child was interpreted in Panana and integrated into the
deci si on- maki ng processes.

74. Ms. GRAHAM DE SAMPSON ( Panamm) said that abortion was categorically
prohibited in all circunstances and at any age.

75. There were no proposals to reintroduce arned forces in Panama. The
police force could not recruit anyone bel ow the age of 18 years. The specia
Children's Police (policia de nenores) set up under the Fam |y Code, which
could receive conplaints fromchildren, was based in the capital. However, a
child could go to any police station throughout the country to | odge a

conpl aint which would then be submitted to the conpetent authorities.

76. There were no | egislative provisions permtting the consunpti on of
al cohol by mnors. Under the Fanmily Code, a child found to be consum ng
al cohol or drugs was sent imediately for treatment. He or she had to
continue his or her education while undergoing treatment and woul d
subsequent |y be nonitored.

77. There was no age at which an adopted child could have access to
informati on on his or her biological famly. Under the system of definitive
adoption, contained in the Fam |y Code, the adoptive parents assuned ful
responsibility for the child. The Cvil Register recorded the new information
pertaining to the adoption and di scarded the previous information. There was
a provision for changi ng one’s nane but only once the age of nmajority had been
reached. The parents or guardians could apply for a child s name to be
changed on the basis of use or custom However, that did not inply any change
of identity.

78. Ms. AROSEMENA DE TRO TI NO (Panama) said that Panama rmade every effort
to keep the best interests of the child as the focal point of all activities
and neasures, institutions and authorities that had any bearing of the lives
and rights of children.

79. The judicial authorities sought, on a case by case basis, to determ ne
where there was any doubt, whether a child should remain under the authority
of his or her parents or guardi ans. Where necessary, a judge could suspend
their authority in the best interests of the child. |If needed, fanm |y therapy
was provided. Children could be placed in the care of the State in
institutions or in hones which were strictly nonitored, again to ensure that
the best interests of the child were respected.

80. The CHAI RPERSON invited the del egation of Panama to reply to the
guestions in the section entitled “Civil rights and freedons”.

81. Ms. GRAHAM DE SAMPSON (Panama) said that a child had to be registered
wi thin 15 cal endar days of birth. However, special arrangements had been nade
to cover cases where the child had not been registered or it was difficult to
register a birth for one reason or another. For exanple, auxiliary registrars
operated in renote areas where it might be difficult to reach an officia




CRC/ C/ SR. 354
page 13

registry office, often with the mayor acting as the registration officer
There were annual refresher courses for registry officials to keep them
abreast of new processes and techni ques.

82. To avoid stignmatization of or discrimnation against children born out
of wedl ock, the nother’s mai den nane was recorded as the child' s surname. The
child faced no discrimnation later in life in the education systemand his or
her inheritance rights were not affected.

83. The Constitution set forth the rights of all citizens, including
children, to freedom of expression. The only restrictions were those relating
to damage to the rights or integrity of others.

84. Article 25 of the Constitution provided for the right of freedom of
religion, the only condition being that, in the exercise of one’'s faith, due
respect should be given to Christian norals and to public order

85. Children’s associ ations were usually centred on health, education
sports and cultural activities. Support was provided by internationa
organi zations, including the United Nations Popul ati on Fund (UNFPA). The
cal endar of events targeting children and children’s issues included

wor kshops, sem nars and radi o broadcasts.

86. Under the Family Code, educational authorities were legally required to
report all suspected cases of child abuse or neglect. Failure to do so would
result in a prosecution for conplicity. Any formof child abuse, including
abuse in a donestic context, was treated as a crimnal offence. A nationa
nmoni t ori ng network had been established to ensure that the |egislation was
respect ed.

87. NGOs had provi ded assistance in setting up a federation of associations
dealing with children. The federation was responsible for defending children
and provided effective nonitoring procedures.

88. Any conpl aints of torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatnent
or punishnent made to persons in authority - such as doctors or teachers -
were treated as confidential. The persons in authority were legally obliged

to report all cases of such treatnent, whether known or suspected. A failure
to do so would result in a prosecution for conmplicity. O her independent
mechani sns such as the National Council on the Family and Children were al so
avail able to deal with cases of suspected ill-treatnent of children

The neeting rose at 6.10 p. m




